
 

Town of North Topsail Beach 

Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting Agenda 

Wednesday, January 24, 2024, at 6:00 PM 

2008 Loggerhead Court, North Topsail Beach, NC 28460 

(910) 328-1349 | www.northtopsailbeachnc.gov 

Zoning Board of Adjustment: Hanna McCloud - Chair, Paul Dorazio - Vice Chair, Scott Morse, Kip 
Malcolm, Stu Harness, Lisa Lee Kozlowski - Alternate, Susan Meyer - Alternate. 

Staff: Deb Hill MPA AICP CFM CZO - Planning Director, Kate Winzler CMC, MCCMC - Clerk to the 
Board of Adjustment. 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. OATH OF OFFICE 

Kip Malcolm - Regular Member 

III. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

Specific Action Requested: Chair will request a motion to adopt the agenda. 

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

A. March 22, 2023 Special Meeting 

Specific Action Requested: Chair will request a motion to approve the minutes. 

B. June 28, 2023 Special Meeting 

Specific Action Requested: Chair will request a motion to approve the minutes. 

V. PUBLIC COMMENT 

VI. OLD BUSINESS 

VII. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Case V-24-01 Variance Request  

VIII. ADJOURNMENT 

Specific Action Requested: Chair will request a motion to adjourn. 

Notice to citizens who wish to speak: As a courtesy to others, a citizen speaking on an agenda item 
or making a petition is normally limited to three minutes. Persons who are organizing a group 
presentation and who wish to speak beyond the three minute limit are requested to make prior 
arrangements through the Planning Director by calling 910-328-1349. If you wish to address the Board 
this evening, please go to the front right corner of the conference room and sign up with the Recording 
Secretary. The Board may also change the order in which agenda items are presented.   

1



Attorneys: If you are representing a person with an interest in a quasi-judicial proceeding on this 
agenda and believe you may wish to cross examine a witness, please identify yourself as such to the 
Recording Secretary. For the sake of maintaining an accurate public record all speakers must be 
prepared to speak into an amplified microphone and must provide their name to the Recording 
Secretary.  

2



  
 
 
 
Joann M. McDermon, Mayor Alice Derian, ICMA-CM 
Mike Benson, Mayor Pro Tem            Town Manager 
 
Aldermen:                                          Nancy Avery 
Fred Fontana Interim Town Clerk 
Richard Grant                                   
Tom Leonard 
Connie Pletl 
                                       
                              

 
 
2008 Loggerhead Court    (910) 328-1349 
North Topsail Beach, NC 28460            www.northtopsailbeachnc.gov                        
    
 NTB is an equal opportunity provider and employer. 

Zoning Board of Adjustment 
Special Meeting Draft Minutes 

Wednesday, March 22, 2023, at 5:30 PM 
2008 Loggerhead Court, North Topsail Beach NC 28460 

 
Present: Hanna McCloud – Chair, Paul Dorazio - Vice Chair, Scott Morse, Cameron Kuegel, Susan 
Meyer. 
Not Participating: Lisa Lee Kozlowski. 
Absent: Pat Stigall, Stu Harness. 
Present Other: Planning Director Hill, Clerk to the Board of Adjustment Winzler, IT Director 
Schwisow, Town Manager Derian, Town Attorney Edes (via Teams), Court Reporter Kim Altman. 
 

CALL TO ORDER Chair McCloud called the meeting to order at 5:36 p.m. 
 

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA Ms. Meyer made a motion to adopt the agenda. Mr. Dorazio 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously, 5-0. 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES Mr. Kuegel made a motion to approve the January 30,2023 minutes. 
Ms. Meyer seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously, 5-0. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

CASE #AA23-000001: Appeal by Mark Boike 
Attorney Edes reviewed the quasi-judicial hearing process and polled the Zoning Board of 
Adjustment regarding their roles as impartial decision makers.  
Clerk Winzler swore in appellant Mark Boike and Planning Director Deb Hill. 
Planning Director Hill reviewed the exhibits and added exhibit eleven: an update from exhibit 
seven the Coastal Area Management Act (CAMA) exemption 07-23 dated March 17, 2023. 
The Board accepted into evidence exhibits one through eleven, noting Mr. Boike's exception to 
the characterization of the type of work he intends to perform as being not maintenance within 
Exhibit 5.  
Planning Director Hill presented the staff report. 
Attorney Edes and Planning Director Hill discussed the North Topsail Beach dune protection 
ordinance in relation to the verbiage used by the Division of Coastal Management (DCM), the 
NC Building Code, and the Federal Emergency Management Act (FEMA) substantial damage 
manual, regarding maintenance, repair, improvement, and expansion, as well as the 
parameters of scope of work at issue. 
Mr. Boike explained that the work would include new pilings driven into the sand to support 
the gazebo.  

3

Section IV, ItemA.



Page 2 of 8                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting March 22, 2023 

Mr. Boike declined to cross examine Planning Director Hill. 
Chair McCloud asked if a building permit was pulled? 
Planning Director Hill replied no, a building permit may not be issued without a zoning permit. 
Chair McCloud identified that the applicant’s drawing did not define the scope of work. 
Planning Director Hill agreed, noting that was inconsistent with the narrative and inconsistent 
with the original CAMA exemption. 
Mr. Boike presented his case, explaining his reasoning for replacing the pilings and resurfacing 
the deck. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Boike for clarification on the scope of the project. 
Mr. Boike explained there would be the addition of one new piling installed within five feet of 
the landward toe of the dune, and all existing pilings would remain in place. 
Planning Director Hill expressed concern over Mr. Boike’s substantial improvement cost 
estimate dated 11/21/2022 which only included plumbing costs and excluded this proposed 
work.   
 Attorney Edes asked Planning Director Hill if she agreed that only one piling would be afoul of 
section 10.07.02(D)(E). 
Planning Director Hill disagreed. As evidenced by the picture on page seven of twenty-eight, the 
entire structure is located oceanward of the landward toe of the dune.  
Mr. Boike asked if the oceanside of the dune was included even though there was no dune 
there. 
Planning Director Hill answered the entire structure is located oceanward of the landward toe 
of the dune. 
There was discussion with the Board regarding the location of dune vegetation on the lot as 
illustrated on page seven of twenty-eight.  
Vice Chair Dorazio suggested that the building of the gazebo may not have been permitted. 
Mr. Boike suggested perhaps it met code when it was constructed. 
At 6:55 p.m., Attorney Edes suggested suspending the evidentiary portion of the hearing and 
beginning deliberations. Attorney Edes reiterated the purpose of the hearing was to ascertain 
whether staff’s decision that the proposed work is in violation of 10.07.02(D)(E) which led to 
the denial of the zoning compliance. 
The Board deliberated. 
Ms. Meyer made a motion to uphold staff’s decision. Mr. Kuegel seconded. Unanimously 
approved, 5-0, as follows: 
Roll call  Vote 
Mr. Morse  Yes 
Chair McCloud Yes 
Vice Chair Dorazio Yes 
Ms. Meyer  Yes 
Mr. Kuegel  Yes 
 
The Board of Adjustment took a break at 7:06 p.m. 
The Board of Adjustment resumed at 7:16 p.m. 
 

CASE #AA23-000002: Appeal by Lloyd Moore 
Attorney Edes asked the applicant for confirmation that he understood the procedure.  

4

Section IV, ItemA.



Page 3 of 8                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting March 22, 2023 

Mt. Lloyd Moore confirmed that he understood. 
Attorney Edes reminded the Board of Adjustment that the case was an appeal from a final staff 
decision, with the goal to determine whether the staff’s decision was commiserate with the 
text of the ordinance and investigate any questions as to what the text of the ordinance means. 
He asked the Board if anyone had any basis that would prevent them from being fair and 
impartial to base their votes solely on the competent evidence produced during the hearing. All 
Board members replied no.  
Clerk Winzler swore in appellant Lloyd Moore, Surveyor Charles Riggs, and Planning Director 
Deb Hill.  
Planning Director Hill presented the staff report and entered into evidence exhibits 1, 1a, 1b, 2, 
2a, and 3. The Board accepted exhibits 1-3 into evidence without objection. 
Ms. Hill confirmed that the application denial was based upon UDO 10.07.02(D) and (E).  
Mr. Moore did not have any cross-examination questions for Planning Director Hill. 
The Board discussed the case with Planning Director Hill. The basis of denial was due to the 
development being oceanward of the landward toe of the dune. The deck was original to the 
house, in place prior to the adoption of the ordinance on September 7, 2022, and therefore the 
application constituted a repair, not an addition or an improvement. 
Appellant Lloyd Moore explained that the same footprint would be constructed.  
Attorney Edes asked Charles Riggs, the appellant’s representative, if he agreed that this 
proposal was consistent with the previous structure and did not contemplate an expansion, nor 
contemplate any development in an area where development did not already exist. 
Mr. Riggs confirmed that the proposed footprint to be repaired was the exact footprint of the 
six by sixteen and the steps going to the ocean, no change in footprint. He suggested CAMA 
reinforced this in the exemption letter stating that it is a repair.    
Attorney Edes asked if the application contemplated the addition of any construction placed 
within five feet of the landward toe of the dune. 
Mr. Riggs suggested the photographs he submitted illustrate a vegetated berm, not necessarily 
a dune, using the Division of Coastal Management definitions.  
Attorney Edes asked if this appeal was granted, looking down from a bird’s eye view, would 
anything be placed outside of what is already there. 
Mr. Riggs disagreed. He explained that the six by sixteen deck and the steps were destroyed by 
Hurricane Florence; this application was to replace them in the exact footprint of the previous 
structure. Therefore, this is not an addition or improvement, but rather a repair.  
Attorney Edes asked if the footprint had existed previously to September 7, 2022. 
Mr. Riggs confirmed. 
Planning Director Hill pointed out that on the CAMA exemption, in the middle paragraph for 
maintenance and repair, it states “excluding replacement.”  
Mr. Riggs continued, explaining that “structures may be repaired in a similar manner, size, and 
location as the original structure.” 
Ms. Hill stated that this structure was lost in 2018, and this application was being made five 
years later in 2023. 
Mr. Riggs explained that it was not completely lost and offered a photo showing the damaged 
structure. 

5

Section IV, ItemA.



Page 4 of 8                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting March 22, 2023 

Attorney Edes asked if any permits had been applied for between Hurricane Florence and this 
application. 
Mr. Riggs stated Mr. Moore could not have applied for permits prior to August 9, 2022, as he 
purchased the property on that date. 
Mr. Riggs distributed the following exhibits to the Board: 
Exhibit 4: two pages from Onslow County Property Records Site dated 3/22/23, 4:09 PM  
Exhibit 5: 5 pages of photographs  
The Board accepted into evidence exhibits 4 and 5 without objection. 
Mr. Riggs explained that exhibit 4 illustrated that the six by sixteen deck in need of repair is 
presently included within the county tax valuation. 
Mr. Riggs explained exhibit 5, a series of photographs: 

 The street-side of the dwelling on December 7, 2022, at 13:53, taken by Mr. Riggs 
showing the access steps and the vegetated berm.   

 Side-view photograph from the west looking east showing the rear portion of the 
dwelling with the vegetated berm and plantings. 

 Onslow County GIS photograph taken September 21, 2018, after Hurricane Florence, 
showing the six by sixteen deck was in place, but in disrepair. 

 Picture taken February 26, 2012, six years before Florence, showing the image of the 
deck with two beach accesses coming off the deck. 

 2012 Onslow County GIS photograph showing the deck and two beach accesses. 
Mr. Riggs explained this was a request to repair this deck and beach access and asked for 
consideration as a safety concern as a second means of access into and out of the dwelling. Mr. 
Riggs brought up the issue of the berm, stating the first line of vegetation ran beneath the 
house. He explained that the Division of Coastal Management used the two-year rule on 
planted vegetation, such that if planted vegetation remains stable for two years, they will move 
the line.  
Mr. Kuegel asked if the house straddles two lots. 
Mr. Riggs confirmed and explained that the lots were created in the sixties. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Moore owned both lots. 
Mr. Riggs confirmed. 
Ms. Meyer asked for clarification between “replacement” and “repair” on the CAMA 
exemption. 
Planning Director Hill read from the CAMA exemption letter. 
Mr. Riggs explained that he read it to mean that this activity is not considered development. 
This is considered a repair. 
Ms. Hill suggested that if it was replaced it would be considered development and would need 
to meet the current code. 
Chair McCloud suggested since there is no structure there presently, it is a replacement of a 
pre-existing deck, not a repair.  
Attorney Edes asked if the scope of work exceeds fifty percent of the market value of the 
structure, as one barometer to measure a repair versus a replacement.  
There was discussion regarding the value of the structure, and if the cost of the project would 
exceed fifty percent of that value. 
Chair McCloud asked why the deck was taxed when it was not there in 2022. 

6

Section IV, ItemA.



Page 5 of 8                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting March 22, 2023 

Planning Director Hill noted that the value of the structure was $161,349, and asked what the 
cost of the project was. 
Mr. Moore responded $16,000. 
Ms. Hill asked if Mr. Moore was aware that if the improvement cost exceeded fifty percent of 
the value of the structure, the entire structure would have to be brought up to code. 
Mr. Moore confirmed.  
Mr. Kuegel asked if the cost of the new construction shown in the December 7, 2022 picture 
was factored into the fifty percent consideration. 
Planning Director Hill replied that it was a minimal cost, and access is necessary. 
Mr. Kuegel asked what the width of the beach access is permissible and if a four-foot landing 
was permissible for access. 
Planning Director Hill stated that she needed to discuss that with the Building Inspector. 
Chair McCloud asked if the six steps towards the beach illustrated on page 9 of 12 were what 
the appellant intends to build. 
Mr. Riggs suggested that the proposed deck and steps would rest on the berm, and not extend 
beyond the toe of the dune at all. 
Attorney Edes suggested if the Board was inclined to modify the staff’s decision, it would be 
appropriate to place a condition on confirmation of what Mr. Riggs just said. 
Mr. Riggs emphasized that when Mr. Moore purchased the property in August, he did due 
diligence, there was no five-foot buffer rule, the dune renourishment had not occurred, nor had 
the vegetation been placed.  
Attorney Edes asked if there were any approvals or staff representations in writing related to 
the scope of work that is the subject of this appeal prior to Mr. Moore buying the property. 
Mr. Riggs stated not in writing, other than discussions with CAMA. 
Attorney Edes also pointed out that the CAMA permit also defers to other local ordinances, 
such as Town of North Topsail Beach. He asked if the proposed work would not expand the pre-
existing structure’s footprint. 
Mr. Riggs agreed. 
Attorney Edes noted the tax card pulled from 2023 identified the structure as existing. 
Mr. Riggs confirmed. 
Chair McCloud reviewed the three options for the Board’s decision.  
 
Mr. Dorazio made a motion to reverse staff’s decision to allow the proposed work to proceed 
only to the extent it does not exceed the pre-existing footprint as depicted on the 2023 tax 
card introduced into evidence.  
Mr. Dorazio amended his motion to include a condition on the provision of a sealed survey. 
Mr. Morse seconded the motion. There was no discussion. The motion passed 3-2, as follows: 
Role call  Vote 
Mr. Kuegel   No 
Ms. Meyer   No 
Mr. Dorazio   Yes 
Ms. McCloud  Yes 
Mr. Morse  Yes 
 

7

Section IV, ItemA.



Page 6 of 8                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting March 22, 2023 

The Board of Adjustment took a break at 8:13 p.m. 
The Board of Adjustment resumed at 8:29 p.m. 
 
 

CASE #AA23-000003: Appeal by Mark Wilson 
Attorney Edes introduced Case #AA23-000003.  
Appellant Mark Wilson stated he was well versed in the ground rules of the procedure. 
Attorney Edes asked if any Board member was incapable of rendering their vote solely based on 
the competent evidence produced at the hearing.  
The Board members replied no. 
Attorney Edes asked if the Board members could be fair and impartial. 
The Board members replied yes. 
Clerk Winzler swore in appellant Mark Wilson, Surveyor Charles Riggs, and Planning Director 
Deb Hill.  
Attorney Edes reviewed the procedural steps. 
Planning Director Hill presented the staff report and exhibits one through six. The Zoning Board 
of Adjustment entered the exhibits as listed in the agenda packet into evidence without 
objection. 
Planning Director Hill explained the work performed exceeded the scope of work permitted. 
Mark Wilson asked Planning Director Hill about the building, renovation, and insulation permit.  
Ms. Hill stated there was no zoning permit. 
Mr. Wilson read part of the Notice of Determination and asked Ms. Hill if a zoning permit was 
required. 
Ms. Hill explained the list of repairs submitted excluded a beach access, and therefore did not 
require a zoning and floodplain permit application. Had the repair list included a beach 
crossover, the project would have required a zoning and floodplain permit application. Ms. Hill 
explained that zoning permits require examination of zoning districts, uses, and setbacks. Flood 
permits require a determination of consistency with flood regulations. The substantial damage 
determination was predicated by extent of damage to the property listed on the application 
resulting from Hurricane Florence.  If a beach crossover was disclosed on the application, a 
zoning and floodplain permit would have been required.  
Mr. Wilson stated that the 2018 and 2022 surveys dictate the existence of a crossover. Prior to 
purchasing the house, Mr. Wilson met with CAMA Field Representative Tina Martin who 
advised not to replace the crossover, but rather install a switchback to not impede dune 
management. He stated that Building Codes Administrator Allen met Mr. Wilson on site to 
review the project. Mr. Wilson noted that the word “deck” was used multiple times within 
communication.  
Ms. Hill noted that this relates to terminology, and asked why Mr. Wilson did not submit plans, 
and noted that the structure was relocated. 
Mr. Wilson stated the only work done was the digging of holes into an engineered berm.  
Ms. Hill stated that there was poor communication. If the application description matched the 
discussion with Tina Martin, with the crossover or switchback, a zoning and flood permit 
application would have been required. 
Mr. Wilson explained his misunderstanding of the purpose of a zoning and flood permit, since 
the footprint of the house is known, and he knew it was in a special flood area and on a flood 

8

Section IV, ItemA.



Page 7 of 8                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting March 22, 2023 

insurance rate map. He explained the application process was thorough and if a component 
was missing, it would have been provided. There was no malicious intent. 
Planning Director Hill stated her belief it was a miscommunication.  
Mr. Dorazio left the room. 
Planning Director Hill stated that CAMA was unable to produce the approved site plan when 
asked.  
Mr. Wilson shared that he had experienced difficulty communicating with CAMA. 
Planning Director Hill apologized to Mr. Wilson for the poor communication. 
Mr. Dorazio returned to the room.  
Mr. Wilson asked Mr. Riggs to speak on his behalf. 
Mr. Charles Riggs asked Attorney Edes if he could ask Planning Director Hill some questions. 
Attorney Edes made a recommendation to allow staff and the applicant time to work through 
the miscommunication. 
Ms. Hill and Mr. Riggs expressed their willingness to collaborate.  
Mr. Riggs stated they would appreciate a recess to accommodate the Town’s needs.  
Mr. Wilson, speaking on behalf of Cedar Homes, LLC, agreed to cease all work covered by the 
stop work order and to contact staff to address the concerns he appealed upon. 
Mr. Kuegel asked if the applicant was a licensed North Carolina general contractor. 
Mr. Wilson confirmed. 
Mr. Kuegel asked Mr. Riggs to confirm that he became involved with this subject about an hour 
ago. 
Mr. Riggs explained that he communicated with Mr. Wilson a week prior and became aware 
that his was on this agenda tonight.  
Mr. Kuegel explained he wanted to make sure that the recess was productive. 
Mr. Wilson explained that he is not the general contractor on this project, and that the owner, 
Chad Bell, is utilizing the owner’s exemption affidavit on this project, and that he is in 
Fredericksburg, Virginia. 
Mr. Kuegel stated that Mr. Bell needs to be involved in the recessed discussions. 
Mr. Wilson agreed.  
Ms. Hill questioned Mr. Wilson’s standing. 
The points of discussion included: 

 The matter of Mr. Wilson’s standing. 
 Desire to work together to clear up misunderstanding/miscommunication and resolve 

the issues. 
 The appellants acquiesced. 
 A timeline for compliance was discussed. All parties accepted a six-week time limit. 

Mr. Dorazio made a motion to recess. Mr. Kuegel seconded the motion. The motion passed 
unanimously, 5-0. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Wilson and Mr. Riggs understood that the fine had not been lifted, 
that they understand that they must abide by the provisions of the existing stop work order, 
and that they agree to work in good faith with Town staff to attempt to resolve the decisions 
from which they appealed from.  
Mr. Wilson agreed. 
Mr. Dorazio left the meeting. 

9

Section IV, ItemA.



Page 8 of 8                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting March 22, 2023 

 
ADJOURNMENT Ms. Meyer made a motion to adjourn. Mr. Kuegel seconded. Motion passed 
4-1. 
 

The Zoning Board of Adjustment meeting adjourned at 9:47 p.m. 
 

APPROVED  CERTIFIED 
This 24th day of January 2024 This 24th day of January 2024 
 
________________________  __________________________ 
Hanna McCloud Kate Winzler 
Chair        Clerk 

10

Section IV, ItemA.



11

Section IV, ItemA.



12

Section IV, ItemA.



13

Section IV, ItemA.



14

Section IV, ItemA.



15

Section IV, ItemA.



16

Section IV, ItemA.



17

Section IV, ItemA.



  
 
 
 
Joann M. McDermon, Mayor Alice Derian, ICMA-CM 
Mike Benson, Mayor Pro Tem            Town Manager 
 
Aldermen:                                          Nancy Avery 
Fred Fontana Interim Town Clerk 
Richard Grant                                   
Tom Leonard 
Connie Pletl 
                                       
                              

 
 
2008 Loggerhead Court    (910) 328-1349 
North Topsail Beach, NC 28460            www.northtopsailbeachnc.gov                        
    
 NTB is an equal opportunity provider and employer. 

Zoning Board of Adjustment 
Special Meeting Draft Minutes 

Wednesday, June 28, 2023, at 5:30 PM 
2008 Loggerhead Court, North Topsail Beach NC 28460 

 
Present: Hanna McCloud – Chair, Paul Dorazio - Vice Chair, Scott Morse, Cameron Kuegel, Susan 
Meyer. 
Absent: Lisa Lee Kozlowski, Stu Harness. 
Present Other: Planning Director Hill, Clerk to the Board of Adjustment Winzler, IT Director 
Schwisow, Town Manager Derian, Town Attorney Edes (via Teams). 
 

CALL TO ORDER Chair McCloud called the meeting to order at 5:34 p.m. 
 

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA Mr. Dorazio made a motion to adopt the agenda. Mr. Morse 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously, 5-0. 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES Mr. Kuegel made a motion to strike the approval of the March 22, 
2023 minutes from the agenda. Mr. Morse seconded the motion. The motion passed 
unanimously, 5-0. 
 

OLD BUSINESS 
 

CASE #AA23-000003: Appeal by Mark Wilson 
Attorney Edes introduced the case history, reviewed the quasi-judicial hearing process, and 
polled the Zoning Board of Adjustment regarding their roles as impartial decision makers. He 
asked the Board if anyone had any basis that would prevent them from being fair and impartial 
and to base their votes solely on the competent evidence produced during the hearing. All 
Board of Adjustment members responded to the questions in the negative. 
Attorney Edes asked Planning Director Hill if the appellant in the second case, Mr. Plaford, was 
in attendance. 
Planning Director Hill confirmed. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Plaford if he heard the procedural guidelines that Attorney Edes 
reviewed with the Board of Adjustment. 
Mr. Plaford confirmed. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Plaford if he would be ok to proceed on the stipulation that those 
same guidelines apply for his appeal. 
Mr. Plaford agreed. 
Clerk Winzler swore in appellant Mark Wilson, Surveyor Charles Riggs, and Planning Director 
Deb Hill. 

18

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 2 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Planning Director Hill entered into evidence exhibits NTB-1 through NTB-30 and added the 
building permit B22-000019 MODIFIED as exhibit NTB-31. 
Mr. Wilson had no objections to the exhibits NTB-1 through NTB-31. 
The Board accepted into evidence exhibits NTB-1 through NTB-31 without objection.  
Planning Director Hill presented a concise review of the staff report. 
Mr. Kuegel asked what the modification was EXHIBIT NTB-31. 
Mr. Hill explained that it was a contractor change request. 
Mr. Wilson cross examined Planning Director Hill. He asked what are the requirements to pull a 
zoning permit in the State of North Carolina? 
Ms. Hill replied going outside the building footprint. 
Mr. Wilson stated that new construction, addition of square footage to a house, or changing 
the use of a structure required a zoning permit. 
Ms. Hill disagreed, explaining that there are many more characteristics which trigger the need 
for a zoning permit. To focus on Mr. Wilson’s project, a zoning permit was not required based 
upon the initial review because the application did not indicate going outside of the footprint of 
the existing building. 
Mr. Wilson asked for clarification between a deck and a beach access. 
Ms. Hill replied that the project description did indicate no change in footprint. If the 
application had indicated expanding the footprint, the zoning review would have included an 
examination for meeting the setbacks. 
Mr. Wilson stated that there were no changes or additions to the home. They were putting it 
back the way it was. Tina Martin required the change to a switchback.  
Ms. Hill stated that she understood the point Mr. Wilson was trying to make. She pointed out 
the condition on the CAMA permit (Coastal Area Management Act) that requires the applicant 
to apply for all local and state permits as well. The applicant must also meet the Town’s 
requirements. The onus fell on the applicant to modify the existing permit to include a change 
in footprint. Constructing a crossover is not replacing some deck boards, handrails, and stair 
treads. Indicating no change in footprint was incorrect. The degree of work performed was a 
change in footprint, indicated by driving pilings into the dune. 
Mr. Wilson countered by offering that there had been pylons in the dunes before the damage 
from Hurricane Florence. Those had been removed, and this project was to repair the deck. Mr. 
Wilson mentioned the need for a means of egress.  
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson to ask questions of Ms. Hill in cross examination, to formulate 
any comments in question form. 
Mr. Wilson acquiesced, noting that the Town required a deck permit application which was 
submitted, and explained that he had no further questions for Ms. Hill.  
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson for confirmation that Mr. Wilson had been asking Ms. Hill 
about the Notice of Violation regarding the failure to obtain zoning and any applicable flood 
permits. 
Mr. Wilson confirmed, explaining that there was no need for a zoning permit as this project was 
not new construction, not building an addition of square footage to the home, nor was it 
changing the use of the structure. 
Attorney Edes asked if the scope of work that was being performed was contained within the 
scope of work on the issued building permit. 

19

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 3 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Mr. Wilson replied yes, repairing the deck.  
Planning Director Hill disagreed, as the authority with jurisdiction for the enforcement and 
interpretation of the UDO (United Development Ordinance) for zoning and development, and 
as the Planning Director of the Town of North Topsail Beach.  
Attorney Edes asked what triggered the notice of violation for development without a permit. 
He asked Ms. Hill what development occurred that triggered the need for either a zoning 
and/or a flood permit. 
Planning Director Hill explained it was shown in the evidence as contained in exhibits four and 
five, the photos showing two-by-four materials going across between the deck and the 
sandbags, laying across the sand dunes, as well as two-by-fours in the ground, with boards 
nailed together at the top. 
Attorney Edes asked if that work was beyond the scope of work submitted for the building 
permit. 
Planning Director Hill confirmed, adding that the Building Inspector also issued a Stop Work 
Order for what he considered inconsistency with the code, included in the evidence.   
Mr. Wilson explained the Stop Work Order placement from his perspective. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if the type of work described by Ms. Hill included in the scope 
of work on the building permit application. 
Mr. Wilson answered that as he wrote it, repairing of the deck, yes. That was how he 
understood it. Mr. Wilson concluded his cross examination of Planning Director Hill. 
Mr. Kuegel asked who submitted exhibits NTB-9 and NTB-10, the pictures showing a white 
railing and deck, and asked to ascertain the age of the photos, as they appear to be dated prior 
to Florence.  
Planning Director Hill explained the photos were embedded in the body of the email from Mark 
Wilson. 
Chair McCloud stated the photos were old.  
Mr. Wilson stated that he did not take the photos, nor did he know when they were taken.  
Mr. Kuegel asked Mr. Wilson if any of the crossover with the white railings existed the first time 
Mr. Wilson stepped onto the property. 
Mr. Wilson stated that it was severely damaged. It was not safe to walk on. Mr. Wilson 
provided no evidence to support it.  
Vice Chair Dorazio referred to the crossover shown on the survey dated April 12, 2022. 
Chair McCloud read from Mr. Wilson’s email, “We aren’t doing a beach access, we’re doing 
exactly what was listed on the CAMA permit and the building permit, simply repairing what is 
there to a similar manner. The back steps are landing on the dune and traversing the back of 
the house.”  
Chair McCloud noted that on NTB-9 and NTB-10 in the pictures there were no sandbags. The 
survey was on NTB-14. Exhibits NTB-4 and NTB-5. 
Mr. Kuegel asked when the sandbags were installed, and do they stretch the whole length of 
the back of the house. 
Mr. Wilson answered that the sandbags cannot be seen from the perspective of the photos 
taken from the beach. The sandbags were visible from the back door of the house looking down 
towards the ocean. Mr. Wilson stated that the sandbags extend the full width of the house, and 
he did not know when the sandbags were installed.  

20

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 4 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Planning Director Hill stated that the beach crossover was present in the 2018 Onslow County 
Aerial. It was not there in the 2020 aerial, nor in the 2022 aerial.  
Attorney Edes stated that the reason for the case is Ms. Hill’s determination that the scope of 
work exceeded the original scope of work submitted on the building permit application. The 
evidence shows that a crossover was there in 2018, but not in 2020 or 2022.  
Ms. Hill confirmed and explained that the Town issues separate beach access permits for beach 
crossovers. She noted the verbiage on the Stop Work Order “Apply. Need CAMA, zoning, 
building permit” signed by Ralph Allen on March 7th, 2023.  
Vice Chair Dorazio pointed out that the new structure was nothing like the original structure. 
Attorney Edes invited Mr. Wilson to present evidence as to why Mr. Wilson felt as though Ms. 
Hill erred in the interpretation of the Town Codes sections listed in the notes of the violation. 
Mr. Wilson reiterated that the deck was significantly damaged, and he stated they were not 
doing a crossover because of the dune damage. Tina Martin of CAMA advised them to install a 
switchback such as in exhibit 9 with a landing then going back to the house. They applied for a 
beach access permit after Tina Martin issued two new CAMA permits. Mr. Wilson argued that 
he did not need a zoning permit as to his knowledge; he did not change the footprint. Mr. 
Wilson stated the beach access permit is pending the adjournment of the Board of Adjustment 
meeting. He expressed a willingness to do whatever.  
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if he understood that there were three distinct violations from 
which he appealed.  
Mr. Wilson confirmed. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if any of the development encroached within five feet of the 
dune. 
Mr. Wilson stated the doing the piers and the house itself as it sat was within five feet of the 
toe of the engineered berm. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if any of the work performed on his behalf encroached within 
five feet of the toe of the dune. 
Mr. Wilson stated that he had difficulty understanding the question. He stated that they did 
work on the berm. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if he sought a zoning permit or a flood permit in connection 
with the work. 
Mr. Wilson answered no. 
Attorney Edes asked if any of the work performed went beyond the scope of work that was 
permitted by the building permit permitted. 
Mr. Wilson stated to his knowledge, no.  
Attorney Edes invited Mr. Wilson to have Mr. Riggs provide testimony relevant to the issues of 
the appeal. 
Charles Riggs, 502 New Bridge Street, Jacksonville, spoke. He passed out new exhibits to the 
Board of Adjustment, and explained since the March 2023 meeting, he surveyed the property.  

 Exhibit 32: Survey of the property dated April 6, 2023 showing the proposed beach 
access suggested by the Division of Coastal Management  

o Attorney Edes recommended the Board receive the exhibit into evidence 
without objection. 

21

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 5 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

 Exhibit 33: Enlargement of the beach access area from exhibit 32 - the April 6, 2023 
survey showing the existing dwelling, the sandbags, the sandbag elevation, the 
proposed four-by-four landing, steps coming down, a four-by-five foot landing at the 
base, and post-and-rope going out to the beach. Mr. Riggs stated the remodeling that 
occurred stayed within the envelope of the house itself. Mr. Riggs stated that the 
sandbags are considered a berm and not a dune, although the Division of Coastal 
Management has begun referring to berms as starter dunes, they do not permit 
hardened structures across a berm. They do allow a mat (for municipalities) or post-and-
rope fence on a crossover. 

 Exhibit 34: Photograph taken on March 30, 2023 from the south toward the north or the 
west to the east at the existing covered deck and the sandbags along the dunes. The 
yellow flags indicated the first line of stable vegetation was on the landward toe of the 
sandbags, two or three feet off the ocean-side of the dwelling.  

 Exhibit 35: Photograph taken from the east or north toward the west or south taken of 
the of the dune, or berm, and the sandbags. 

 Exhibit 36: Exemption Number 18-23 signed by Tina Martin for Exempted Project – 
Maintenance and Repair of Existing Structures, which gave the applicant permission to 
proceed with maintenance and repair to the structure. 

Attorney Edes asked Mr. Riggs if, as a land surveyor familiar with the CAMA permitting process, 
particularly with minor permits, if he agreed that those incorporate or make reference to that 
you may need to check with your local municipality to see if there are additional regulations 
that may apply. 
Mr. Riggs agreed. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Edes if, in his professional experience, he would agree that that 
because CAMA provided an exemption letter it did not, in and of itself alleviate the 
responsibility of the landowner to check with the local town for their local ordinances.  
Mr. Riggs agreed and pointed out that verbiage on the last line of the exemption letter. 

 Exhibit 37: Exemption Number 20-23 from Tina Martin addressing the redistribution of 
sand consistent with current rules, also stating that it does not alleviate the necessity of 
obtaining any state, federal, or local authorization, and North Carolina building permits. 

 Exhibit 38: Agent Authorization for Mr. Riggs to speak on their behalf.  
Mr. Riggs’ presented the following points: 

 He has surveyed this property since 2017.  
 The preliminary survey in the original staff report included the existing structures, 

where the existing access was located, and a proposed structure showing the house 
moving landward toward the street. 

 Mr. Wilson’s proposed beach access was located within the center of the house as 
opposed to the exact location of the decking where it had been previously, however the 
proposed access was a smaller footprint.  

 Mr. Riggs stated that he believed the Town’s five-foot rule exempts beach accesses from 
damage. 

 Mr. Riggs acknowledged that Mr. Wilson did damage the berm minimally, however the 
beach access is exempt from the five-foot rule.  

 Mr. Riggs stated that it is a berm and not a dune. 

22

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 6 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

 Since their first meeting, Mr. Wilson has received all permits necessary to come into 
compliance. 

 The survey was completed as requested. 
 Along with the Division of Coastal Management, they agreed on a game plan for a 

proper beach access. 
 At this point, they have performed in good faith to be compliant with the Town and 

would appreciate the Board’s consideration in this matter. He didn’t believe there was 
any malicious intent. 

Attorney Edes asked about the dates of exhibits 36 and 37. 
Mr. Riggs explained that both exhibit 36 and exhibit 37 are dated April 21st, 2023.  
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Riggs if it was his understanding that the work that occurred within 
the five-foot buffer occurred prior to the issuance of those exemption letters. 
Mr. Riggs noted that exhibit 36, exemption 18-23 is a renewal of a former exemption 18-21, 
and he did not know when that was issued. He continued stating he did not believe there was 
any disturbance within five-feet of the dune because it was a berm, and any disturbance that 
may have occurred within five-feet of the dune was beach access related. It was his opinion 
that a beach access is exempt from the rule. 
Attorney Edes stated that he believed Mr. Riggs was referring to the provision of the ordinance, 
“No disturbance, no development, no structure shall be permitted within five feet of the 
landward toe of the dune ‘dune buffer’ except beach access crossovers as permitted” 
explaining that he understood the difference between permitted and exempted. He believed 
that it was relevant when those exemptions were issued in relation to the notice of violation. 
Mr. Wilson provided testimony that he did not have the exact date of the original CAMA 
permit, but he believed it was September of 2022. 
Attorney Edes asked if that was prior to work being performed related to the beach crossover. 
Mr. Wilson stated that it was issued prior to doing any work. 
Attorney Edes asked Planning Director Hill if there was anything in the exhibits the Town 
introduced that would reflect the original issue of the state of a crossover exemption and if so, 
was that exemption for the same area where this crossover was going on the property. 
Planning Director Hill offered NTB-1 “Application by Mark Wilson [Boike is a typo]” exemption 
number EX47-22 dated October 26, 2022, and stated that the site drawing and materials 
submitted with the CAMA application were August 26, 2022, listed on exhibit NTB-20.  
Attorney Edes asked for confirmation that the staff report states the exemption letter was 
issued by CAMA in October 2022.  
Planning Director Hill confirmed. 
Attorney Edes asked if Ms. Hill prepared the staff report. 
Ms. Hill confirmed. 
The Board questioned Mr. Riggs. 
Ms. Meyer asked where it was stated that sandbags are considered berms and not dunes, and 
when did the rule change allowing crossovers on sandbags. 
Mr. Riggs responded that the position of the Division of Coastal Management was that they are 
berms, confirmed by the fact that no hardened structures are allowed to be built across them. 
He only knew this specifically through experience with the Division of Coastal Management. 

23

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 7 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

This case was a privately owned lot, and they had the right to access the ocean with post-and-
rope in a specific area. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Riggs had stated earlier that the Division of Coastal Management 
also called these starter dunes. 
Mr. Riggs confirmed that he has seen that language used, in addition to berms.  
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Riggs had seen that the area contains vegetation. 
Mr. Riggs confirmed, sparsely vegetated, yes. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Riggs agreed that the geotextile tubes or sandbags were covered by 
sand that had vegetation on top of them. 
Mr. Riggs agreed, offering that his photos in exhibits 34 and 35 plainly show six inches to a foot 
of sand and some vegetation on the sandbags. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Riggs agreed or at least heard reference to that type of 
topographical feature as being a starter dune. 
Mr. Riggs agreed, but mostly a berm, but they had started using the term starter dune. 
Mr. Kuegel read from exhibit 20 “the CAMA representative did inform me on site, that it would 
be in my best interest not to keep the crossover, but to just keep the current switchback and a 
rope way down” and asked Mr. Wilson to explain the current switchback, with Mr. Wilson’s 
definition of a switchback; was there a switchback there when he wrote the email.  
Mr. Wilson stated essentially, yes. Mr. Wilson continued to explain that when he wrote the 
email, nothing was there. The email was a rebuttal to the appeal.   
Mr. Kuegel asked if they had torn the switchback out. 
Mr. Wilson stated it was gone, his contractors removed it. 
Ms. Meyer asked if it was part of the original footprint. 
Mr. Wilson stated they are not doing a switchback; just the steps down to a landing and then 
post-and-rope going over. 
Mr. Kuegel asked where in exhibit 5 were the stairs going down and were the posts shown 
supposed to be for a landing? 
Mr. Wilson stated that was where the landing would have been with stairs going back toward 
the house. 
Mr. Kuegel asked where the landing was in the original footprint in the evidence that Mr. Riggs 
provided. 
Mr. Wilson explained that was going back in a similar manner to what was originally there 
before. 
Chair McCloud asked for clarification between the original request for a walkway toward the 
beach, and the new request for a set of stairs and a landing, not a walkway. 
Mr. Wilson stated that they wanted something different now than what they originally wanted 
in August.  
Mr. Kuegel stated that this hearing was an appeal, not an application for a variance. He 
suggested the applicant apply for a permit for the new plans. The Board convened for an appeal 
to a violation of three Town Codes.  
Mr. Riggs explained that as part of the appeal process, they were showing that it was their 
position they did not feel as though they violated some of the rules the Town was imposing. For 
example the proposed beach access, though it was changed, was still allowed under the Town’s 

24

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 8 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

rules and the minimal disturbance was based solely on beach access, not improvement of the 
envelope of the house. They were requesting an appeal on the citation. 
Planning Director Hill offered they were requesting an appeal on the citation and asked if they 
sought approval on the proposed post and rope. 
Attorney Edes stated that the Board could not approve what was presented; that was not 
before the Board of Adjustment.  
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if the original switchback was actually constructed and then 
removed. 
Mr. Wilson stated no, the cross braces for the pylons in NTB-5 was the extent of what was 
done. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if he saw the vegetation in the picture on the neighboring lot 
close to the fascia board of the neighboring deck. 
Mr. Wilson agreed. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if he saw the configuration of the berm/starter dune north of 
this property and then down by the staple gun on the southern portion of the picture on top of 
a sandbag. 
Mr. Wilson agreed. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Wilson had to clear down to the sandbags. 
Mr. Wilson stated no. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if it was his testimony that despite the appearance north of 
this property, there was no removal of sand or anything like that. That is just the way it was. 
Mr. Wilson stated yes, sir. The maintenance of the dunes, the berms, the house, was not 
maintained by the previous owner.  
Mr. Kuegel asked if Mr. Wilson added sand to the lot, or covered vegetation with sand. 
Mr. Wilson stated no, the sand in the picture was from digging for the pylons. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if the disturbed sand in the picture was disturbed from in and 
around that area.  
Mr. Wilson agreed. 
Planning Director Hill left the room at 7:14 p.m. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if he saw the staplegun on exhibit 4. 
Mr. Wilson confirmed he did.  
Attorney Edes asked about the excavated hole next to the sandbag structure in the picture. 
Mr. Wilson stated it was about five feet off that structure. 
Attorney Edes asked to look straight up the picture to the two little holes of excavation in 
between the sandbags. 
Planning Director Hill returned to the room at 7:16 p.m. 
Mr. Riggs stated he believes the holes were dug for the proposed beach access.  
Attorney Edes asked if the holes were dug by Mr. Wilson’s people.  
Mr. Wilson confirmed. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Wilson had to submit a configuration of a crossover to receive the 
exemption letter. 
Mr. Wilson stated no. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Wilson had identified it as a switchback crossover or as a traditional 
type crossover to get the exemption letter. 

25

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 9 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Mr. Wilson replied a switchback crossover. 
Attorney Edes asked if the configuration presently was different from the switchback crossover. 
Mr. Wilson confirmed. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Wilson had received an exemption letter for the new configuration.  
Mr. Wilson confirmed. 
Mr. Kuegel asked when Mr. Wilson received the new configuration exemption letter. 
Mr. Wilson stated he believed April 21st. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Wilson’s testimony was that the disturbance of the sandbags in 
exhibit 4 – was in connection with a crossover to be built pursuant to an exemption letter 
issued by the Division of Coastal Management. 
Mr. Wilson replied a switchback, yes.  
Attorney Edes asked if it was Mr. Wilson’s position that a switchback is different than a 
crossover. 
Mr. Wilson confirmed. 
Mr. Edes asked if Mr. Wilson understood that the actual ordinance at issue refers to crossovers, 
not switchbacks. 
Mr. Wilson stated that he did understand that. 
Chair McCloud asked Attorney Edes for confirmation that the Board convened to discover 
whether Mr. Wilson violated the Town dune protection ordinance. Staff had stopped the work 
because of their belief that there was a violation of the ordinance.  
Attorney Edes stated that was his understanding from the appellant himself, that his original 
exemption letter was for a switchback, which he acknowledged was different than a crossover. 
Subsequent to the March hearing, the appellant obtained an exemption for a crossover in April. 
Mr. Wilson said that was misstated. The April CAMA exemption letter was for the repair of rear 
deck, stairs, and landing with post and rope dune crossing.  
Attorney Edes asked if that was a crossover to the beach. 
Mr. Wilson replied he didn’t like to use the word crossover, because crossover implies a 
hardened structure going across over to the beachside. Post and rope would be walking over. 
Attorney Edes mentioned that Mr. Riggs had pointed out the ordinance pertaining to 
crossovers, which did not say anything about switchbacks or post-and-rope, so it is a significant 
point. 
Mr. Riggs replied that it is his opinion that a switchback can be part of a beach crossover. 
Attorney Edes asked then why was there a need for a second exemption letter? There was an 
exemption letter issued in October of 2022, and according to Mr. Riggs exhibits 36 and 37 are 
two additional exemption letters, one of which was an extension of a previously issued 
exemption. What was the need for the third exemption letter? 
Mr. Wilson agreed and stated that third exemption letter covers moving sand from the 
northeastern side of the property to strengthen the berm. 
Attorney Edes answered Chair McCloud that according to testimony and staff’s exhibits, there 
was in October 2022 an exemption letter for some sort of crossover structure and that was 
what they were there for. He asked what was the status on the date the notice of violation was 
issued. He encourages staff to work with citizens to explore a mutually agreeable solution to 
some issues. He confirmed that Chair McCloud was absolutely right, the question for the 

26

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 10 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

meeting’s discussion was whether staff through Ms. Hill interpreted those three code sections 
correctly, based on what was going on at the time that the notices of violation were issued. 
Chair McCloud stated that an hour and a half was wasted talking about something not pertinent 
to the code violation, rebuilding of damaged dunes. Dunes, berm, it doesn’t make any 
difference- one is a baby berm and then it becomes a dune. The terminology changed recently. 
When this ordinance was written, it was to prevent damage to the dunes. The Town is 
protecting our dunes, our people, our properties. The violation was ten thousand dollars 
because this was important to the whole ecosystem of our barrier island. We need to enforce 
our rules. Not knowing that another permit or exemption was needed has nothing to do with 
the damage of the dunes. 
Mr. Riggs replied that their position was that any damage that was caused by the dune was 
caused in the attempt to build a beach access, and a beach access is exempt from the five-foot 
rule. 
Mr. Kuegel asked if it was Mr. Riggs’ opinion that the beach access which was trying to be built 
was permitted. 
Mr. Riggs replied that he was not sure of that. He was not involved at the time, but a portion of 
it appears to be permitted. He stated he was not sure, as the holes which were dug could have 
been for post-and-rope. Any disturbance was for the beach access, based upon the exemption 
letter received earlier.  
Vice Chair Dorazio stated that on the exemption letter it still states you have to get a local 
permit. 
Chair McCloud added which was never done. 
Mr. Kuegel added that the other exemption letter says “in order to minimize impacts to sea 
turtles anywhere occurring between April 1 and November 15th shall require review from US 
Fish and Wildlife” so there was another stipulation on another exemption letter. 
Mr. Wilson presented his closing arguments that it was an existing home remodel, no zoning 
permit was required. He was going off of Coastal Management’s definition of the engineered 
berm, until it has established vegetation it is still considered an engineered berm. He 
understood the point of calling it a dune. At the end of the day, words have meaning. What 
crime are you being charged with. Dunes as defined by Coastal Management have established 
vegetation. In his case, he didn’t have established vegetation. His intent was to do the beach 
access and with the third exemption letter reinforce that berm to strengthen the ecosystem in 
the dunes. With his scope of work repairing the deck, if something would have been caught, he 
would have fixed it. He just carried on, and called in inspections as needed. 
Attorney Edes advised the Board to proceed to deliberations and explained the procedure. 
Ms. Meyer asked if Building Inspector Allen ever lifted the stop order.  
Mr. Wilson answered that it was still posted. 
The Board of Adjustment discussed the stop work order and violations.  
Attorney Edes recommended discussing the three violations one by one.  
There was discussion.  
It was clarified there were four violations to address:  

 §10.07.02 REBUILDING OF DAMAGED DUNES 
 §10.02.01 DEVELOPMENT WITHOUT A PERMIT 
 §10.02.02 DEVELOPMENT INCONSISTENT WITH A PERMIT 

27

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 11 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

 §10.02.03 VIOLATION OF CONDITIONS IMPOSED 
§10.07.02. Ms. Kuegel made a motion to affirm staff’s decision I don’t see any errors. Mr. 
Morse seconded the motion. Motion unanimously approved, 5-0, as follows: 
Roll call  Vote 
Vice Chair Dorazio Aye 
Chair McCloud Aye 
Mr. Morse  Aye 
Mr. Kuegel  Aye 
Ms. Meyer  Aye 
 

§10.02.01 Mr. Kuegel made a motion that we affirm the staff’s decision. Mr. Dorazio 
seconded the motion. Motion unanimously approved, 5-0, as follows: 
Roll call  Vote 
Ms. Meyer  Aye 
Mr. Kuegel  Aye 
Mr. Morse  Aye 
Chair McCloud Aye 
Vice Chair Dorazio Aye 
 

§10.02.02 Mr. Morse made a motion we affirm staff’s decision. Mr. Kuegel seconded the 
motion. Motion unanimously approved, 5-0, as follows: 
Roll call  Vote 
Vice Chair Dorazio Aye 
Chair McCloud Aye 
Mr. Morse  Aye 
Mr. Kuegel  Aye 
Ms. Meyer  Aye 
 

§10.02.03 Ms. Meyer moved that we affirm the Town’s decision. Mr. Morse seconded the 
motion. Motion unanimously approved, 5-0, as follows: 
Roll call  Vote 
Vice Chair Dorazio Aye 
Chair McCloud Aye 
Mr. Morse  Aye 
Mr. Kuegel  Aye 
Ms. Meyer  Aye 
 

Attorney Edes explained that with staff he would draft an order consistent with the votes. 
 

The Board of Adjustment recessed at 7:43 p.m. 
The Board of Adjustment returned at 7:51 p.m. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

CASE #AA23-000004: Appeal by Capital Asset Topsail Development LLC 
Attorney Edes Attorney Edes reminded the Board of Adjustment that the case was an appeal 
from a final staff decision on §10.07.02 Rebuilding of Damaged Dunes, for a property located at 

28

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 12 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

402 New River Inlet Road, North Topsail Beach, North Carolina, for a citation issued March 28, 
2023. He stated that Mr. Plaford had agreed that the same stipulations apply to this hearing.  
Attorney polled the Board of Adjustment regarding their roles as impartial decision makers. He 
asked the Board if anyone had any basis that would prevent them from being fair and impartial 
to base their votes solely on the competent evidence produced during the hearing. All Board 
members replied no.  
Attorney Edes reviewed the quasi-judicial hearing process. 
Clerk Winzler swore in appellant Chris Plaford, surveyor Charles Riggs, and Planning Director 
Deb Hill. 
Planning Director Hill reviewed subject matter and entered into evidence exhibits NTB-1 
through NTB-17, PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 1 through PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 21. Ms Hill added Exhibit 
NTB-17 the zoning permit for the swimming pool at 402 New River Inlet Road.  
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Plaford if he had any objections to the Town’s exhibits 1-17 coming 
into evidence for this hearing, or any objections to his own exhibits 1-21. 
Mr. Plaford responded no. 
Attorney Edes recommended the Board receive North Topsail Beach exhibits 1-17 into evidence 
without objection and the appellant’s exhibits 1-21 into evidence without objection.  
Ms. Meyer brought up a point of clarification, noting that the zoning permit exhibit was labeled 
NTB-5, when there was already an NTB-5 in the packet. 
Planning Director Hill stated the zoning permit exhibit should be labeled NTB-17. 
Attorney Edes recommended that the Board receive 1-17 from North Topsail Beach and 1-21 
from the appellant into evidence without objection. 
Chair McCloud stated yes. 
Planning Director Hill stated that the appellant completed the dune remediation within twenty-
four hours of the March 28th, 2023 email. She met with Mr. Riggs, Philip Norris, and Building 
Inspector Ralph Allen. It was an immediate response.  
Mr. Kuegel left the room at 8:11 p.m. 
Mr. Kuegel returned to the room at 8:11 p.m. 
Mr. Kuegel asked Planning Director Hill if the pool itself was not in violation. 
Ms. Hill confirmed that the pool was properly permitted with a safety net in place. The grading 
of the lot went a little too close to the dune. The pool meets the five-foot buffer. 
Mr. Kuegel asked if the mediation meant it was put back like it was. 
Ms. Hill confirmed. 
Mr. Kuegel asked if there was an evidence photo of the meditation. 
Attorney Edes explained that the proper term was remediation. 
Mr. Kuegel agreed. 
Ms. Hill answered that PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 19, PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 20, and PLAINTIFF’S 
EXHIBIT 21 were taken on March 29, 2023 the day after the notice was issued.  
Mr. Kuegel asked what spurred the complaint. 
Ms. Hill responded the Building Inspector was driving by, saw it, called her, and she responded. 
Vice Chair Dorazio asked on PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 17 what the two pink flag survey stakes were 
marking in the dune. 

29

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 13 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Ms. Hill stated she would have to let Mr. Rigg’s answer that question. She believed that they 
indicated the agreed upon location of the toe of the dune. Mr. Hill stated that it showed up 
best in PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 21. 
Attorney Edes recommended that the Board hear that directly from Mr. Riggs. 
Charles Riggs, 502 New Bridge Street, Jacksonville received a packet from the Board and passed 
out an additional packet of documents on behalf of the appellant. 
Attorney Edes asked if they could agree that Mr. Riggs’ submittal in its aggregate be called 
PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 22. 
Mr. Riggs agreed. 
Attorney Edes recommended that the Board accept into evidence PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 22 
without objection. 
Chair McCloud agreed. 
Mr. Riggs continued stating that he was speaking on behalf of Mr. Plaford who was in 
attendance. 
Attorney Edes corrected Mr. Riggs, stating that in North Carolina, it was a quasi-judicial hearing, 
so Mr. Riggs may not practice law. Mr. Riggs was allowed to provide testimony relevant to his 
client’s appeal. 
Mr. Riggs agreed. He continued that they were there to explain that any disturbance that 
occurred on the property, they felt was permitted. Mr. Riggs had surveyed the property from 
2017 up until Mr. Plaford purchased the property under Capital Assets Development. 
PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 2 is a June 1, 2022 survey showing the boundary survey and preliminary 
plot plan that reflects the vehicles, proposed dwelling, proposed pool, proposed beach access, 
and the first line of vegetation as flagged by the Division of Coastal Management. PLAINTIFF’S 
EXHIBIT 3 is the same survey that was revised to reflect the landward toe of the dune, dated 
June 27, 2022. That survey was used to receive the existing CAMA permit 43-22 as illustrated on 
PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 5-7. It permits the residence and all improvements including the pool. 
PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 8 should be the building permit issued on August 19, 2022 [correction: this 
document is PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 22 page 6]. PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 9 is a survey Mr. Riggs 
prepared dated June 27, 2023 [correction: this document is PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 22 page 7] this 
is the same survey they had prepared the previous year, with the exception that it is showing 
the existing dwelling because it is under construction, and the existing pool. It illustrates the 
proposed beach access which had not been built yet. The green line shown is the landward toe 
of the dune from June of 2022. The blue line is the landward toe of the dune on March 28, 
2023. This area of sand dune shifted ten feet closer to the street than the dune that was 
permitted by CAMA and the building permit for the house and the pool using the June 2022 
survey.  PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 10 [correction: this document is PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 9] is an 
enlargement of that: the existing pool, the green line of June 27, 2022 and the blue line 
landward toe in March 29, 2023.  
Attorney Edes correctly identified that document as PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 9. 
Mr. Riggs agreed. The blue line was based on when the Town of North Topsail Beach came to 
the site for the dune disturbance. Mr. Riggs did not think the dune had been disturbed because 
he had surveyed it a year before. Mr. Riggs located that line and illustrated it, it was staked and 
the photographs show that it was restored. Mr. Riggs stated that it was his opinion, based on 
the evidence, that they did not disturb the landward toe of the dune because all their permits 

30

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 14 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

were based on a previous landward toe of the dune.  Mr. Riggs explained that CAMA permit 43-
22 was issued on 07/05/2022, the building permit was issued 08/19/2022, the 5’ rule was 
adopted 09/07/2022, and the pool permit was issued 11/17/2022. 
Mr. Riggs reviewed the following PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBITS: 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 10 Photograph from previous survey work on the property, April 3, 
2019 at 12:08. The two stakes are the first stable line of stable vegetation on that day. 
The shorter one labeled 1006 was Mr. Riggs’ stake, the taller weathered wood was 
staked by Division of Coastal Management. It shows how flat the lot is, and the toe of 
the dune is right near the dune itself. 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 11 Photograph from April 19, 2022 showing Division of Coastal 
Management’s first line of vegetation flag. You can see how the dune has progressed, 
however the toe of the dune is only a few feet away from the first line. You get a 
perspective of where the toe of the dune is based on the adjoining property. 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 12 Photograph from July 20, 2022 at 12:05 shows how flat the lot is 
and the approximate location of a dwelling with the wood stakes. You can see the toe of 
the dune using the adjoining property to gain a perspective of where it is. 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 13 Photograph of the same lot showing the access to the left, 
people walking across the lot, the sharpness of how quickly the dune comes down on 
the landward side. The stakes are the proposed dwelling.  

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 14 a photograph taken on March 28, 2023 16:14, 4 o’clock in the 
afternoon. It shows the safety fence around the pool, the dune itself, and the 
disturbance that has happened. To get a perspective, you can see the latticework and 
the toe of the dune on the adjoining lot versus where it is on this lot and comparing it 
with the previous photos, you can see that the disturbance, in his opinion, was a valid 
activity because they based it off the permitted toe of the dune from the previous year. 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 15 Photograph from March 28, 2023 showing where the previous 
toe of the dune was staked a year earlier. The dunes were man-made without a lot of 
vegetation at the time, so a lot of sand sloughed off quicker than if there had been 
existing vegetation. It was a good illustration of what was disturbed versus the previous 
toe of the dune.  

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 16 Photograph from the same perspective. 
 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 17 Photograph from a different angle showing the disturbance and 

then the toe of the dune. 
 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 18 Photograph from March 28, 2023 same stakes with the original 

toe of the dune and the disturbance.  
 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 19 Photograph taken on March 29th, 2023 at 9:47 in the morning. 

It shows the land disturbing activity, the wood stakes for the planned decking around 
the existing pool, and the land disturbance. 

Chair Dorazio remarked at how the dune built up that high in one year. 
Mr. Riggs admitted he was surprised. 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 20 darker but the same, the photograph reflects the wood stakes 
where the concrete will end around the pool. The red flags are the disturbance from 
March 28th, 2023. 

31

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 15 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 21 photograph different angle, different side. It shows the 
disturbance, the pool, and the dune. 

Mr. Riggs explained that it was their position that the disturbance was based off permits they 
had in hand. The CAMA permit, building permit, and pool permit all used his survey from June 
of 2022, which showed the toe of the dune in a certain location. Their position was that they 
were right. They immediately repaired it knowing the Town was upset about it. He stated his 
appreciation for the Board’s consideration in their appeal of this decision about the citation. He 
stated that he thinks the Town of North Topsail Beach needs to consider the issue that when 
permits are granted based off previous surveys and nine months later conditions change, what 
is the proper procedure. He expressed that he felt like they were vested in the permits they had 
and did the proper thing.  
Mr. Kuegel asked what the red shaded area was on PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 9. 
Mr. Riggs explained it reflected the amount of disturbance that occurred within the toe of the 
dune.  
Mr. Kuegel asked for an approximation of that width. 
Mr. Riggs answered 2.1 feet by 37 feet and totaled 51.6 square feet. It was not their intent to 
violate the rules, they felt as if they were within the rules at the time.  
Mr. Morse asked Planning Director Hill if there was an expiration date on permits. 
Ms. Hill replied a building permit expires after six months if there is no activity. A zoning permit 
expires after either six months or a year.  
Mr. Morse asked if the pool would be able to be installed in the same location if it was applied 
for last month. 
Ms. Hill replied there was more than a five-foot buffer, so the pool itself would not have been 
an issue. 
Mr. Morse asked based on the previous survey and the permitting process if there was an 
adjustment or a precedence for how citations are issued, considering dune movement. 
Mr. Kuegel asked if this was the first time this was an issue. 
Ms. Hill stated that this was the first time that this circumstance had occurred, where they 
pulled the permits and did what they were supposed to do.  
Mr. Morse explained he wanted to be firm and consistent. 
Ms. Hill explained that is why there is a Board of Adjustment for the appeal process.   
Mr. Riggs stated it was important that the Board know they were fully permitted before the 
ordinance came into effect. 
Mr. Kuegel asked if the same issue would come before the Board when they install the fence 
and the concrete. 
Mr. Riggs stated that they had the fence and the pool permits from the Town and CAMA, 
before the ordinance came into effect. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Riggs to clarify, as he believed Mr. Riggs stated that the pool permit 
was issued after the ordinance.  
Mr. Riggs replied that the Town may have permitted the pool after, but the CAMA permit did 
permit the pool prior. 
Attorney Edes stated that CAMA’s permit contemplates and requires the permittee to get any 
applicable local, in this case, North Topsail Beach permits. 
Mr. Riggs agreed.  

32

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 16 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Attorney Edes stated he understood that they had the building permit before the ordinance 
was adopted, in September of 2022. The pool permit was applied for and obtained after the 
ordinance was adopted.  
Mr. Riggs stated based on the submittal he had received earlier in the evening, the issuance 
date was November 17, 2022. The application date looks like October 5, 2022.  
Attorney Edes pointed out that both were after September 7, 2022. 
Mr. Riggs agreed. 
Attorney Edes asked if there was an application requirement to show the toe of the dune. 
Ms. Hill confirmed. 
Mr. Riggs confirmed, stating that it was shown on the survey of June 27th, 2022. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Riggs had submitted that survey for the pool permit. 
Mr. Riggs confirmed it was the same survey submitted for the CAMA permit and the building 
permit. 
Mr. Kuegel asked if the concrete and the fence would be installed within the same area of 
disturbance. 
Ms. Hill stated that she did not think it would be.  
Attorney Edes stated that he believed it was beyond the scope of the hearing. A future 
potential violation would not bear on whether a violation has occurred. He acknowledged Mr. 
Kuegel’s point. 
Planning Director Hill asked Mr. Riggs if he had a copy of the plat submitted with the pool 
application. 
Mr. Riggs answered that he did not submit the pool application, but it was more than likely the 
survey submitted with the CAMA application.  
Mr. Kuegel stated that the pool as it sat was not an issue, and the permitted pool features were 
permitted. 
Attorney Edes stated that would be dealt with if it occurred, but for the purpose of this meeting 
it was not material. 
Mr. Riggs stated their position was that any disturbance was in good faith and only occurred 
because they used the plans as it was permitted.  
Attorney Edes stated that the permit is relevant, but the future potential violation is not. If Mr. 
Riggs’ survey was submitted in connection with the pool permit then the Town approved that 
permit based on that survey, but based upon Mr. Riggs’ testimony the landward toe of the 
dune moved ten feet to where it is today. 
Mr. Riggs explained that the pool permit was issued in November, and the disturbance occurred 
in March.  
Chair McCloud explained that a storm in March changed the dune again.  
There was discussion among the Board.  
Vice Chair Dorazio explained that he sees survey stakes being placed five feet away from the 
toe of the dune for current projects, leaving no question. 
 Mr. Riggs explained that he suggests that his clients place the silt fence there, so there won’t 
be any disturbance beyond there. 
There was discussion. 
Mr. Kuegel asked Attorney Edes if the Board could modify a staff decision on an appeal. 
Attorney Edes confirmed that it must be a rationally based modification. 

33

Section IV, ItemB.



Page 17 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Appellant Chris Plaford explained that the pool sits where it sits today, but where they were 
clearing toward was to include the decking that was permitted to go around the pool. 
Mr. Morse added that it was based on the original survey and the original stakes in the ground. 
Mr. Plaford confirmed.  
Mr. Kuegel asked if it was permitted, why were they there. 
Ms. Meyer stated because Planning Director Hill had to go by what the rules are now.  
Mr. Kuegel asked about the installation beyond the pool, if the remediation was outside the 
envelope of the features that would go around the pool. 
Mr. Riggs stated that he felt it would.  
There was discussion. 
Ms. Dorazio made a motion to reverse it. Mr. Morse seconded the motion. Motion 
unanimously approved, 5-0, as follows: 
Roll call  Vote 
Vice Chair Dorazio Aye 
Chair McCloud Aye 
Mr. Morse  Aye 
Mr. Kuegel  Aye 
Ms. Meyer  Aye 
Attorney Edes stated that he, along with staff would draft an order reflecting this vote. 
 

DISCUSSION 
Planning Director Hill explained that the Planning Board and Board of Adjustment were short 
and need volunteers.  
There was discussion. 
 

ADJOURNMENT Mr. Dorazio made a motion to adjourn. Mr. Morse seconded. Motion passed 
5-0. 
 

The Zoning Board of Adjustment meeting adjourned at 9:02 p.m. 
 

APPROVED  CERTIFIED 
This 24th day of January 2024 This 24th day of January 2024 
 
________________________  __________________________ 
Hanna McCloud Kate Winzler 
Chair        Clerk 

34

Section IV, ItemB.



35

Section IV, ItemB.



36

Section IV, ItemB.



37

Section IV, ItemB.



38

Section IV, ItemB.



39

Section IV, ItemB.



40

Section IV, ItemB.



41

Section IV, ItemB.



42

Section IV, ItemB.



43

Section IV, ItemB.



44

Section IV, ItemB.



45

Section IV, ItemB.



46

Section IV, ItemB.



47

Section IV, ItemB.



48

Section IV, ItemB.



49

Section IV, ItemB.



50

Section IV, ItemB.



51

Section IV, ItemB.



52

Section IV, ItemB.



53

Section IV, ItemB.



54

Section IV, ItemB.



55

Section IV, ItemB.



56

Section IV, ItemB.



57

Section IV, ItemB.



58

Section IV, ItemB.



59

Section IV, ItemB.



60

Section IV, ItemB.



61

Section IV, ItemB.



62

Section IV, ItemB.



63

Section IV, ItemB.



 

 

STAFF REPORT CONTACT INFORMATION 

Deborah J. Hill MPA AICP CFM CZO 910.328.1349 dhill@northtopsailbeachnc.gov 
DOCKET/CASE/APPLICATION NUMBER 
V-24-01 

 APPLICANT/PROPERTY OWNER 
MICHAEL CLARENCE & CATHERINE 
CARLTON METCALF 

PUBLIC HEARING DATE 
01-24-2024 6 P.M. 

 PROPERTY ADDRESS/LOCATION 
6603 13TH AVE 

BRIEF SUMMARY OF REQUEST 
 
A variance request by Keith Parker, NC Design & Build LLC on 
behalf of his client, Col. Michael C. Metcalf, U. S. Army, Ret.  
from the Town of North Topsail Beach from  Unified 
Development Ordinance Article 5 Table 5-1 Dimensional 
Requirements to allow for construction of an elevator hoistway 
approximately 3.7 feet into the 15-foot sideyard corner setback 
at 6603 13th Avenue, North Topsail Beach NC. 

 

   MAP SOURCE: ONSLOW COUNTY GIS 2022 AERIAL WITH ZONING LAYER 

EXISTING ZONING 
 

MHR 
MANUFACTURED 

HOUSING 
RESIDENTIAL 

EXISTING LAND USE 
 
 

Single Family 
Residential 

SURROUNDING ZONING & 
LAND USE 

 
MHR 

Single Family 
Residential 

SITE IMPROVEMENTS 
 

EL23-000003  
07-AUG-23 
CARGO LIFT 

SIZE OF PROPERTY 
 

5,000 sq ft 
0.11 acre 

Survey dated 
12/13/2022 by 

Dwight Ashley PLS 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

APPROVE APPROVE WITH CONDITIONS DENY 

COMPATIBILITY with the COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
(CAMA Land Use Plan) 

Property not within a CAMA AEC. 
Development exempt from CAMA 
requirements.  
Future Land Use: High Density 
Residential 
 

PROPERTY HISTORY 

Compatibility with the planned development (or other controlling documents); 
traffic/parking; public works/utilities; engineering/flood plain/soil; building 
code/fire or design 

Permits: ZFP23-000133, SB23-000066, E23-000136, 
EL23-000003 issued 8/07/2023 
 

COMPATIBILITY with the UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 

 
ARTICLE 5. DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS SIDE YARD CORNER MHR Single- family 15’.  
 
§5.06 OTHER YARD MODIFICATIONS. 
(B) Architectural features, such as open or enclosed fire escapes, steps, outside stairways, 
balconies and similar features, and uncovered porches, may not project more than four feet into 
any required yard. Sills, cornices, eaves, gutters, buttresses, ornamental features and similar items 
may not project into any required yard more than 30 inches. 
 
§2.03.04 VARIANCES (A)  
(2) A variance may be granted when necessary and appropriate to make a reasonable 
accommodation under the Federal Fair Housing Act for a person with a disability. 
(4) The requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the regulation, such 
that public safety is secured and substantial justice is achieved. 
 

 

64

Section VII, ItemA.



EXHIBITS 
1. Staff Report
2. Notice of Inspection Failure dated 10/05/2023
3. Applicant’s letter dated October 18, 2023
4. VA Benefits Letter (provided under separate cover to protect applicant’s privacy)
5. DD-214 (provided under separate cover to protect applicant’s privacy)
6. Variance Application
7. Survey  with hand-drawn relocation of elevator hoistway to facilitate parking and access on

ground level
8. Photo of existing structure with with hand-drawn relocation of elevator hoistway.
9. Public Notice

65

Section VII, ItemA.



From: dhill@northtopsailbeachnc.gov
To: jjsmkmom@yahoo.com; ncdesignandbuild@gmail.com
Cc: Deb Hill; Kate Winzler; Ralph Allen
Subject: Inspection Failure
Date: Thursday, October 5, 2023 11:08:57 AM

Subject: 6603 13TH AVE, 23-000678 Inspection 

Greetings, 

It appears that the elevator shaft has encroached into the side setback. 
Attached, please find the link to a variance application to the Board of
Adjustment https://www.northtopsailbeachnc.gov/planningzoning/page/application-variance. 

 

Deborah Hill, CMC, NCCMC
Planning Director
Town of North Topsail Beach
2008 Loggerhead Ct
North Topsail Beach, NC 28460
910.328.1349

66

Section VII, ItemA.



"r 18, 2023 

,'lanning Board 

Town of North Topsail Beach 

2008 Loggerhead Court 

North Topsail Beach, NC 28460 

Subject: Request for Variance: Elevator Construction at 6603 13th Avenue 

My wife, Catherine, and I purchased the house and property located at 6603 13th Avenue in December 

2022. We actually moved in the week of Christmas, fulfilling for Catherine the lifelong dream of living on 

Topsail Island. 

I am a 90% Disabled Veteran having served in the United States Army for nearly 32 years. I suffer with 
VA service-connected degenerative disc disease with arthritis, that cnuses continual chronic back pain. I 

also deal daily with the long term results of a left ankle lateral collateral sprain that I suffered while 

deployed to Mosel, Iraq during Operation Iraqi Freedom. I have to wear a brace on my left ankle all my 

waking hours, every day. Both of these conditions, in themselves, require that I have access to an 

elevator in our home. But the lack of cartilage and subsequent arthritis in my left ankle is so severe that I 

am a candidate for a VA financed complete ankle replacement-a surgery that I have had to put off for 

10 months as I have awaited the installation of an elevator in my home. 

Catherine, my wife, suffers with chronic pain as well. She is under the care of pain management 

physicians and receives periodic epidural injections. For two weeks after an epidural injection, she is 

limited in her mobility and it is not safe for her to go up and down stairs. An elevator would lessen her 

pain, improve her ability to get to the main and upper floors of our house, and improve her quality of 

life. 

After completing all the permits/paperwork/initial inspections with the Town of North Topsail Beach, it 

is my understanding that NC Design and Building, the construction firm that built the elevator shaft has 

now had to file an Application for Variance. Considering the above-mentioned physical conditions, I 

request that that Variance be approved as soon as possible so that the installation of an elevator can be 

completed. 

Respectfully, 

Michael C. Metcalf 

Chaplain (Colonel), US Army (Retired) 

6603 13th Avenue 
N. Topsail Beach, NC 28460 
Cell: (828) 550-8267 
mudflapeagle@icloud.com 

Enclosures: VA Benefits Letter 

DD214 

67

Section VII, ItemA.



           djh
           djh
           djh

           djh
1/24/2024 6:00 P.M.

68

Section VII, ItemA.



69

Section VII, ItemA.



70

Section VII, ItemA.



71

Section VII, ItemA.



72

Section VII, ItemA.



  
 
 
 
Joann M. McDermon, Mayor Alice Derian, ICMA-CM 
Mike Benson, Mayor Pro Tem            Town Manager 
 
Aldermen:                                          Nancy Avery 
Richard Grant Interim Town Clerk 
Tom Leonard                             
Laura Olszewski 
Connie Pletl 

2008 Loggerhead Court    (910) 328-1349 
North Topsail Beach, NC 28460            www.northtopsailbeachnc.gov                        
    
 NTB is an equal opportunity provider and employer. 

 

PUBLIC NOTICE  
Zoning Board of Adjustment 

Wednesday, January 24, 2024, 6:00 p.m. 
 

Public Notice is hereby given that the Town of North Topsail Beach Zoning Board of Adjustment 
will hold an Evidentiary Hearing following quasi-judicial procedures on Wednesday, January 24, 
2024, at 6:00 p.m at Town Hall, 2008 Loggerhead Court, North Topsail Beach NC.   
 
The purpose of this meeting is to hear and decide Case #V-24-01, a variance request by Keith 
Parker, NC Design & Build LLC on behalf of his client, Col. Michael C. Mecalf, U. S. Army, Ret.  from 

the Town of North Topsail Beach from  Unified Development Ordinance Article 5 Table 5-1 
Dimensional Requirements to allow for construction of an elevator hoistway approximately 3.7 

feet into the 15-foot sideyard corner setback at 6603 13th Avenue, North Topsail Beach NC.  
 
Prior to the public hearing, all new members shall, before entering their duties, qualify by taking an 
oath of office as required by North Carolina General Statutes 153A-26 and 160A-61. 
 
All information pertaining to the Board of Adjustment public hearing may be viewed at Town Hall, 
2008 Loggerhead Court, North Topsail Beach NC, Monday through Friday between the hours of 8:00 
a.m. and 5:00 p.m. All interested citizens are encouraged to attend. 

 
Deborah J. Hill MPA AICP CFM CZO 
Planning Director 
 
 

73

Section VII, ItemA.


	Top
	Section IV, ItemA.	March 22, 2023 Special Meeting
	2023.03.22 Special ZBA Meeting Draft Minutes w-added exhibits

	Section IV, ItemB.	June 28, 2023 Special Meeting
	2023.06.28 Special ZBA Meeting Draft Minutes w_addl exhibits

	Section VII, ItemA.	V-24-01 Staff Report
	V-24-2024 STAFF REPORT

	Bottom

